Liviu Ornea Misha Verbitsky

Principles of Locally Conformally Kähler Geometry





Progress in Mathematics

Volume 354

Series Editors

Antoine Chambert-Loir, Université Paris-Diderot, Paris, France
Jiang-Hua Lu, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China
Michael Ruzhansky, Ghent University, Belgium
Queen Mary University of London, London, UK
Yuri Tschinkel, Courant Institute of Mathematical Sciences, New York, USA

Progress in Mathematics is a series of books intended for professional mathematicians and scientists, encompassing all areas of pure mathematics. This distinguished series, which began in 1979, includes research level monographs, polished notes arising from seminars or lecture series, graduate level textbooks, and proceedings of focused and refereed conferences. It is designed as a vehicle for reporting ongoing research as well as expositions of particular subject areas.

Principles of Locally Conformally Kähler Geometry



Liviu Ornea Mathematics University of Bucharest Bucuresti, Romania Misha Verbitsky Mathematics Instituto Nacional de Matemática Pura e Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

ISSN 0743-1643 ISSN 2296-505X (electronic)
Progress in Mathematics
ISBN 978-3-031-58119-9 ISBN 978-3-031-58120-5 (eBook)
https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-58120-5

Mathematics Subject Classification (2020): 53C, 14F, 14E, 32E, 32G

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2024

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This book is published under the imprint Birkhäuser, www.birkhauser-science.com by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG

The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Paper in this product is recyclable.

Contents

Co	onter	nts	v			
In	ntroduction					
Ι	Le	ctures in locally conformally Kähler geometry	1			
1	Käł	aler manifolds	3			
	1.1	Complex manifolds	. 3			
	1.2	Holomorphic vector fields	. 4			
	1.3	Hermitian manifolds	. 5			
	1.4	Kähler manifolds	. 5			
		1.4.1 Examples of Kähler manifolds	. 5			
		1.4.2 Menagerie of complex geometry	. 6			
	1.5	Exercises				
		1.5.1 Kähler geometry and holomorphic vector fields				
		1.5.2 The Lie algebra of holomorphic Hamiltonian Killing fields	. 8			
2	Connections in vector bundles and the Frobenius theorem 1					
	2.1	Introduction	. 11			
	2.2	Connections in vector bundles	. 13			
	2.3	Curvature of a connection	. 13			
	2.4	Ehresmann connections				
		2.4.1 Ehresmann connection on smooth fibrations				
		2.4.2 Linear Ehresmann connections on vector bundles				
	2.5	Frobenius form and Frobenius theorem				
	2.6	Basic forms				
	2.7	The curvature of an Ehresmann connection				
	2.8	The Riemann–Hilbert correspondence				
		2.8.1 Flat bundles and parallel sections				
		2.8.2 Local systems				
	2.9	Exercises	. 24			
3	Loc	ally conformally Kähler manifolds	27			
	3.1	Introduction				
	3.2	Locally conformally symplectic manifolds				
	3.3	Galois covers and the deck transform group				
	3.4	Locally conformally Kähler manifolds				
		3.4.1 LCK manifolds: the tensorial definition				
		3.4.2 The weight bundle and the homothety character				
		3.4.3 Automorphic forms related to the homothety character				
		3 4 4 Kähler covers of LCK manifolds: the second definition	33			

		3.4.5	LCK manifolds via an <i>L</i> -valued Kähler form: the third def-	
			inition	
		3.4.6	Conformally equivalent Kähler forms	
		3.4.7		
	3.5		CK rank	
	3.6	A first	t example	
	3.7	Notes		37
	3.8	Exerc	ises	38
4	Hoo		ory on complex manifolds and Vaisman's theorem	41
	4.1	Introd	luction	
	4.2	Prelin	ninaries	
		4.2.1	Hodge decomposition on complex manifolds	42
		4.2.2	Holomorphic one-forms and first cohomology	44
		4.2.3	Positive $(1,1)$ -forms	44
	4.3	Vaism	nan's theorem	
	4.4		ises	
5	Hol	omorp	hic vector bundles	51
	5.1	-	luction	51
	5.2		norphic vector bundles	
		5.2.1	Holomorphic structure operator	
		5.2.2	The $\overline{\partial}$ -operator on vector bundles	
		5.2.3	Connections and holomorphic structure operators	
		5.2.4	Curvature of holomorphic line bundles	
		5.2.5	Kähler potentials and plurisubharmonic functions	
		5.2.6	Chern connection obtained from an Ehresmann connection	
		5.2.7	Calabi formula (2.6).	
	5.3		ve line bundles	
	5.4	Exerc	ises	59
6			ct and Sasakian manifolds	61
	6.1		luction	
	6.2		anifolds	
	6.3		act manifolds and pseudoconvex CR-manifolds	
		6.3.1	Contact manifolds and symplectic cones	
		6.3.2	Levi form and pseudoconvexity	
		6.3.3	Normal varieties	66
		6.3.4	Stein completions and Rossi-Andreotti–Siu theorem	67
	6.4	Sasak	ian manifolds	68
	6.5	Notes		72
		6.5.1	CR-structures and CR-manifolds	72
		6.5.2	Sasakian manifolds: the tensorial definition by Sh. Sasaki .	72
	6.6	Exerc	ises	73
7	Vais	sman n	nanifolds	77
	7.1	Introd	luction	
			Many definitions of Vaisman manifolds	77

		7.1.2 Riemannian cones	78
		7.1.3 Basics of Vaisman geometry	79
	7.2	Holonomy and the de Rham splitting theorem	
	7.3	Conical Riemannian metrics	82
	7.4	Vaisman manifolds: local properties	
	7.5	Vaisman metrics obtained from holomorphic automorphisms	
	7.6	The canonical foliation on compact Vaisman manifolds	88
	7.7	Exercises	
8	The	structure of compact Vaisman manifolds	93
	8.1	Introduction	
	8.2	The Vaisman metric expressed through the Lee form	94
	8.3	Decomposition for harmonic 1-forms on Vaisman manifolds	
	8.4	Rank 1 Vaisman structures	98
	8.5	The structure theorem	99
	8.6	Exercises	100
9	Orbi	ifolds	105
	9.1	Introduction	105
	9.2	Groupoids and orbispaces	107
	9.3	Real orbifolds	108
	9.4	Complex orbifolds	109
	9.5	Quotients by tori	109
	9.6	Principal orbifold bundles	112
	9.7	Exercises	112
10	Qua	si-regular foliations	115
	10.1	Introduction	115
	10.2	Quasi-regular foliations and holonomy	117
	10.3	Circle bundles over Riemannian orbifolds	120
	10.4	Quasi-regular Sasakian manifolds	124
	10.5	Notes	125
	10.6	Exercises	126
11	Reg	ular and quasi-regular Vaisman manifolds	129
	11.1	Introduction	129
	11.2	Quasi-regular Vaisman manifolds as cone quotients	130
	11.3	Regular Vaisman manifolds	131
	11.4	Quasi-regular Vaisman manifolds are orbifold elliptic fibrations	133
	11.5	Density of quasi-regular Vaisman manifolds	134
		Immersion theorem for Vaisman manifolds	
		Notes	
	11.8	Exercises	140
12	LCK	manifolds with potential	145
		Introduction	145
		Deformations of LCK structures	
		LCK manifolds with potential	
		•	

		12.3.1 LCK manifolds with potential, proper and improper	149
		12.3.2 LCK manifolds with potential and preferred gauge	150
		12.3.3 The monodromy of LCK manifolds with proper potential .	152
		12.3.4 $d_{\theta}d_{\theta}^{c}$ -potential	153
		12.3.5 Deforming an LCK potential to a proper potential	
	12.4	Stein manifolds and normal families	
		12.4.1 Stein manifolds	
		12.4.2 Normal families of functions	
		12.4.3 The C^0 - topology on spaces of functions	158
		12.4.4 The C^1 - topology on spaces of sections	
		12.4.5 Montel theorem for normal families	
		The Stein completion of the Kähler cover	
		Appendix 1: another construction of the Stein completion	
		Appendix 2: the proof of the Kodaira–Spencer stability theorem	
		Notes	
	12.9	Exercises	166
10	r 1	11: .TOY :: (11 :d) (:: 11 TF 6 :: (11	151
13		pedding LCK manifolds with potential in Hopf manifolds Introduction	
		Preliminaries on functional analysis	
	15.2	13.2.1 The Banach space of holomorphic functions	
		13.2.2 Compact operators	
		13.2.3 Holomorphic contractions	
		13.2.4 The Riesz–Schauder theorem	
	12 2	The embedding theorem	
	13.3	13.3.1 Density implies the embedding theorem	
		13.3.2 Density implies the embedding theorem 13.3.2 Density of γ^* -finite functions on the minimal Kähler cover	
	13 4	Notes	
		Exercises	
	13.3	Extenses	1//
14	Loga	arithms and algebraic cones	181
		Introduction	
	14.2	The logarithm of an automorphism	
		14.2.1 Logarithms of an automorphism of a Banach ring	183
		14.2.2 Logarithms of the homothety of the cone	
	14.3	Algebraic structures on Stein completions	
		14.3.1 Ideals of the embedding to a Hopf manifold	
		$14.3.2 Algebraic \ structures \ on \ Stein \ completions: \ the \ existence \ \ . \ \ .$	
		14.3.3 Algebraic structures on Stein completions: the uniqueness .	
	14.4	Algebraic cones	
		14.4.1 Algebraic cones defined in terms of \mathbb{C}^* -action	
		14.4.2 Algebraic cones and Hopf manifolds	
	14.5	Exercises	194
15	Door	ideconvey challe and ICK matrice on Hanf manifolds	197
13		Idoconvex shells and LCK metrics on Hopf manifolds Introduction	
	13.1	15.1.1 LCK metrics on Hopf manifolds	
		13.1.1 Len mennes on Hopf mannous	17/

		15.1.2 Affine cones of projective varieties	. 198
	15.2	Pseudoconvex shells	
		15.2.1 Pseudoconvex shells in algebraic cones	
		15.2.2 All linear Hopf manifolds are LCK with potential	. 201
		15.2.3 Pseudoconvex shells in algebraic cones	
		15.2.4 LCK manifolds admitting an S^1 -action	. 202
		15.2.5 Existence of S^1 -action on an LCK manifold with potential	
		15.2.6 Quotients of algebraic cones are LCK	
		15.2.7 Holomorphic isometries of LCK manifolds with potential	
	15.3	Algebraic cones as total spaces of \mathbb{C}^* -bundles $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots$	
		15.3.1 Algebraic cones: an alternative definition	
		15.3.2 Closed algebraic cones and normal varieties	
	15.4	Exercises	. 209
16		edding theorem for Vaisman manifolds	215
		Introduction	
	16.2	Embedding Vaisman manifolds to Hopf manifolds	
		16.2.1 Semisimple Hopf manifolds are Vaisman	
		16.2.2 Algebraic groups and Jordan–Chevalley decomposition .	
		16.2.3 The algebraic cone of an LCK manifold with potential	
	16.3	Deforming an LCK manifold with proper potential to Vaisman man-	
		ifolds	
	16.4	Exercises	. 221
17		-linear Hopf manifolds	225
		Introduction	
	17.2	Hopf manifolds and holomorphic contractions	
		17.2.1 Holomorphic contractions on Stein varieties	
		17.2.2 Non-linear Hopf manifolds are LCK	
		Minimal Hopf embeddings	
		Poincaré-Dulac normal forms	
	17.5	Exercises	. 232
18			237
		Introduction	
	18.2	Preliminaries on differential operators	
		18.2.1 Differential operators	
		18.2.2 Elliptic complexes	
		Bott-Chern cohomology	
	18.4	Morse-Novikov cohomology	
		18.4.1 Morse–Novikov class of an LCK manifold	
		18.4.2 Twisted Dolbeault cohomology	
	18.5	Twisted Bott-Chern cohomology	
	18.6	Bott–Chern classes and Morse–Novikov cohomology	
	18.7	Exercises	. 247
19	Exis	tence of positive potentials	251
	19.1	Introduction	. 251

	19.2	A counterexample to the positivity of the potential	253
		A $d_{\theta}d_{\theta}^{c}$ -potential on a compact LCK manifold is positive somewhere	
	19.4	Stein manifolds with negative $d_{\theta}d_{\theta}^{c}$ -potential	255
		19.4.1 Remmert theorem and 1-jets on Stein manifolds	255
		19.4.2 Negative sets for $d_{\theta}d_{\theta}^{c}$ -potentials are Stein	256
		19.4.3 Stein LCK manifolds admit a positive $d_{\theta}d_{\theta}^{c}$ -potential	256
	19.5	Gluing the LCK forms	257
		19.5.1 Regularized maximum of plurisubharmonic functions	257
		19.5.2 Gluing of LCK potentials	258
	19.6	Exercises	259
20	Holo	omorphic S^1 actions on LCK manifolds	263
	20.1	Introduction	263
		S^1 -actions on compact LCK manifolds $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	
		20.2.1 The averaging procedure	
		20.2.2 Holomorphic homotheties on a Kähler manifold	
		20.2.3 Vanishing of the twisted Bott–Chern class on manifolds en-	
		dowed with an S^1 -action	266
	20.3	Exercises	266
21	Sasa	kian submanifolds in algebraic cones	269
		Introduction	
		Sasakian structures on CR-manifolds	
		Isometric embeddings of Kähler and Vaisman manifolds	
		Embedding Sasakian manifolds in spheres	
		21.4.1 Kodaira-like embedding for Sasakian manifolds	
		21.4.2 Optimality of the embedding result	
	21.5	Notes	
		Exercises	
00	0.1.	11 7 (6.11	001
22		eklaus–Toma manifolds Introduction	281
	22.1		
		22.1.1 Many species of Inoue surfaces	
		22.1.2 Class VII ₀ surfaces with $b_2 = 0$	
		22.1.3 Oeljeklaus–Toma manifolds and LCK geometry22.1.4 Subvarieties in the OT-manifolds	
	22.2		
	22.2	Number theory: local and global fields	
		22.2.2 Local fields	
		22.2.3 Valuations and extensions of global fields	
	20.2	22.2.4 Dirichlet's unit theorem	
	22.3	Oeljeklaus-Toma manifolds	
		22.3.1 The solvmanifold structure	
	00.4	22.3.2 The LCK metric	
		Non-existence of complex subvarieties in OT-manifolds	
		Non-existence of curves on OT-manifolds	294
	77.6	EVERCISES	705

		22.6.1 22.6.2	T	
		22.0.2		. 2,,
23		endice		301
			dix A. Gauduchon metrics	
	23.2	Appen	dix B. An explicit formula of the Weyl connection	. 305
II	Ad	lvance	ed LCK geometry	307
24	Non	-Kähle	r elliptic surfaces	309
	24.1	Introd	uction	. 309
	24.2	Gauss-	-Manin local systems and variations of Hodge structure	. 310
		24.2.1	The Gauss-Manin connection	. 310
		24.2.2	Variations of Hodge structures	. 311
	24.3	Gromo	ov's compactness theorem	. 313
	24.4	Barlet	spaces	. 317
	24.5	Elliptio	c fibrations with multiple fibres	. 318
		24.5.1	Multiple fibres of elliptic fibrations and the relative Alba-	
			nese map	. 318
		24.5.2	Structure of a neighbourhood of a multiple fiber	. 320
	24.6	Non-K	Ähler elliptic surfaces	. 321
		24.6.1	Structure of elliptic fibrations on non-Kähler surfaces	. 321
		24.6.2	Isotrivial elliptic fibrations	. 323
	24.7	The Bl	anchard theorem	. 326
	24.8	Exercis	ses	. 328
		24.8.1	Group structure on a curve of genus 1	. 328
		24.8.2	Elliptic fibrations	. 329
25	Kod	aira cla	assification for non-Kähler complex surfaces	333
	25.1	Introd	uction	. 333
		25.1.1	An overview of this chapter	. 333
		25.1.2		
		25.1.3	Locally conformally Kähler surfaces	. 335
	25.2		nology of non-Kähler surfaces	
		25.2.1	Bott-Chern cohomology of a surface	. 336
		25.2.2	First cohomology of non-Kähler surfaces	. 337
		25.2.3	Second cohomology of non-Kähler surfaces	. 340
		25.2.4	Vanishing in multiplication of holomorphic 1-forms	. 341
		25.2.5	Structure of multiplication in de Rham cohomology of non-	
			Kähler surfaces without curves	
	25.3		c fibrations on non-Kähler surfaces	
	25.4	Class V	VII surfaces	
		25.4.1	The Riemann–Roch formula for embedded curves	. 346
		25.4.2	(-1)-curves	. 348
		25.4.3	Non-Kähler surfaces are either class VII or elliptic	. 349
	25.5	Brunel	lla's theorem: all Kato surfaces are LCK	. 351

	25.6	The embedding theorem in complex dimension $2 \dots \dots$	354
	25.7	Inoue surfaces	356
	25.8	Exercises	356
		25.8.1 Riemann–Roch formula for a curve	356
		25.8.2 Complex surfaces	357
26	Coh	omology of holomorphic bundles on Hopf manifolds	363
	26.1	Introduction	363
	26.2	Derived functors and the Grothendieck spectral sequence	364
	26.3	Equivariant sheaves, local systems and cohomology	
		26.3.1 Equivariant sheaves and equivariant objects	
		26.3.2 Group cohomology, local systems and Ext groups	
		Group cohomology of $\mathbb Z$	
	26.5	Directed sheaves and cohomology of $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus 0$	
		26.5.1 Directed sheaves: definition and examples	
		26.5.2 Serre duality with compact supports	
		26.5.3 Cohomology of $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus 0$	
		Contractions define compact operators on holomorphic functions .	
		Mall's theorem on cohomology of vector bundles	
	26.8	Exercises	383
27		bundles and flat connections on Hopf manifolds	387
	27.1	Introduction	
		27.1.1 Mall bundles and coherent sheaves	
		27.1.2 Flat affine structures and the development map	
	27.2	Coherent sheaves	
		27.2.1 Normal sheaves and reflexive sheaves	
		27.2.2 Extension of coherent sheaves on complex varieties	
	27.3	Dolbeault cohomology of Hopf manifolds	
		27.3.1 Degree of a line bundle	
		27.3.2 Computation of $H^{0,p}(H)$ for a Hopf manifold	
		27.3.3 Holomorphic differential forms on Hopf manifolds	
	27.4	Mall bundles on Hopf manifolds	
		27.4.1 Mall bundles: definition and examples	398
		27.4.2 The Euler exact sequence and an example of a non-Mall	
		bundle on a classical Hopf manifold	
	27.5	Resonance in Mall bundles	
		27.5.1 Resonant matrices	
		27.5.2 Resonant equivariant bundles	
		27.5.3 Holomorphic connections on vector bundles	
	a= -	27.5.4 The flat connection on a non-resonant Mall bundle	
	27.6	Flat connections on Hopf manifolds	
		27.6.1 Developing map for flat affine manifolds	
		27.6.2 Flat affine connections on a Hopf manifold	409
		27.6.3 A new proof of Poincaré theorem about linearization of	440
	05.5	non-resonant contractions	
	27.7	Harmonic forms on Hopf manifolds with coefficients in a bundle	411

		27.7.1	The Hodge * operator and cohomology of holomorphic bundles	411
		27.7.2	Multiplication in cohomology of holomorphic bundles on	
			Vaisman-type Hopf manifolds	. 412
		27.7.3	Appendix: cohomology of local systems on S^1 and the mul-	
			tiplication in cohomology of holomorphic bundles on Hopf	
			manifolds	. 413
	27.8	Exercis	ses	. 416
28			and Teichmüller spaces for LCK manifolds	423
	28.1		action	
			Deformation spaces	
			Deformations of Hopf surfaces: a short survey	
		28.1.3	Teichmüller space of Hopf manifolds and applications to	
			LCK geometry	
	28.2		ıranishi space	
			Nijenhuis-Schouten and Frölicher-Nijenhuis brackets	
		28.2.2	Kuranishi space: the definition	. 427
			Kuranishi to Teichmüller map	
	28.3		ranishi space for Hopf manifolds	
			Vanishing of $H^2(TH)$ for a Hopf manifold $\dots \dots$	
			Kuranishi space and linear vector fields	
			Kuranishi to Teichmüller map for Hopf manifolds	
			schemes	
	28.5	_	ace of complex structures on LCK manifolds with potential	
		28.5.1	J. O	
		28.5.2	Diffeomorphism orbits of LCK structures with potential have	
		00.50	Vaisman limit points	
	20.6		The Teichmüller space of LCK manifolds with potential	
	28.7		Ses	
			Hilbert polynomials	
		28.7.2	Deformation theory	. 441
29	The	set of I	ee classes on LCK manifolds with potential	447
			action	
	29.2		etrics on Vaisman manifolds	
	29.3	Opposi	ite Lee forms on LCK manifolds with potential	. 450
	29.4	_	decomposition of $H^1(M)$ on LCK manifolds with potential .	
	29.5		t of Lee classes on Vaisman manifolds	
	29.6		t of Lee classes on LCK manifolds with potential	
	29.8	Exercis	ses	. 455
30	Har	monic f	forms on Sasakian and Vaisman manifolds	459
	30.1	Introdu	action	
		30.1.1	Basic cohomology and taut foliations	. 460

		30.1.2 Hattori spectral sequence and Hattori differentials	461
		30.1.3 Supersymmetry and geometric structures on manifolds	465
	30.2	Lie superalgebras acting on the de Rham algebra	466
		30.2.1 Lie superalgebras and superderivations	466
		30.2.2 Differential operators on graded commutative algebras	467
		30.2.3 Supersymmetry on Kähler manifolds	469
	30.3	Hattori differentials on Sasakian manifolds	472
		30.3.1 Hattori spectral sequence and associated differentials	472
		30.3.2 Hattori differentials on Sasakian manifolds	474
	30.4	Transversally Kähler manifolds	476
	30.5	Basic cohomology and Hodge theory on Sasakian manifolds	479
		30.5.1 The cone of a morphism of complexes and cohomology of	
		Sasakian manifolds	
		30.5.2 Harmonic form decomposition on Sasakian manifolds	481
	30.6	Hodge theory on Vaisman manifolds	
		30.6.1 Basic cohomology of Vaisman manifolds	
		30.6.2 Harmonic forms on Vaisman manifolds	
	30.7	The supersymmetry algebra of a Sasakian manifold	486
	30.8	Notes	490
	30.9	Exercises	491
	D 11	In the factor of the state of the	
31		1	495
		Introduction	
		Weights of a torus action on the de Rham algebra	
		Dolbeault cohomology on manifolds with a group action	
	31.4	Dolbeault cohomology of Vaisman manifolds	
		31.4.1 Basic and Dolbeault cohomologies of Vaisman manifolds	
	01.5	31.4.2 Harmonic decomposition for the Dolbeault cohomology	
		Dolbeault cohomology of LCK manifolds with potential	
	31.6	Exercises	
		31.6.1 Isometry groups	
		31.6.2 Aeppli and Dolbeault cohomologies of Vaisman manifolds.	
		31.6.3 Aeppli cohomology and strongly Gauduchon metrics	512
32	Cala	ıbi-Yau theorem for Vaisman manifolds	515
	32.1	Introduction	515
		The Lee field on a compact Vaisman manifold	
	32.3	The complex Monge-Ampère equation	518
		Exercises	
		The second secon	
33		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	523
		Introduction	
		Holomorphic tensors on LCK manifolds with potential	
		Zariski closures and the Chevalley theorem	
		Holomorphic tensors on Vaisman manifolds	
	33 5	Exercises	527

Ш	T	opics in locally conformally Kähler geometry	531
34		omorphism groups of LCK manifolds	533
		Infinitesimal automorphisms	
		Lifting a transformation group to a Kähler cover	
		Affine vector fields	
		Conformal vector fields on compact LCK manifolds	
	34.5	Holomorphic Lee field	. 540
35		sted Hamiltonian actions and LCK reduction	543
	35.1	Twisted Hamiltonian actions	
		35.1.1 The LCK momentum map	
		35.1.2 LCK reduction at 0	
		Complex Lie group acting by holomorphic isometries	
		LCK manifolds admitting a torus action with an open orbit	
	35.4	Toric LCK manifolds	. 551
36	Ellip	otic curves on Vaisman manifolds	555
		Counting elliptic curves	
	36.2	Application to Sasaki manifolds: closed Reeb orbits	. 556
		36.2.1 Boothby-Wang theorem for Besse contact manifolds	. 556
		36.2.2 Weinstein conjecture for Sasakian manifolds	. 557
37	Subi	mersions and bimeromorphic maps of LCK manifolds	559
	37.1	A topological criterion	. 559
	37.2	Holomorphic submersions	. 562
		37.2.1 LCK metrics on fibrations	. 562
		37.2.2 LCK metrics on products	. 563
	37.3	Blow-up at points	
		Blow-up along submanifolds	
		Weak LCK structures	
		Moishezon manifolds are not LCK	
		LCK currents and Fujiki LCK class	
	0717	37.7.1 LCK manifolds in terms of currents	
		37.7.2 An analogue of Fujiki class C	
38	Bott	-Chern cohomology of LCK manifolds with potential	575
	38.1	Bott-Chern versus Dolbeault cohomology	575
	38.2	Generic vanishing of Bott-Chern cohomology	. 577
39	Hon	f surfaces in LCK manifolds with potential	581
-		Diagonal and non-diagonal Hopf surfaces	
	37.1	39.1.1 Complex curves in non-diagonal Hopf surfaces	
		39.1.2 Gauduchon metrics on LCK manifolds with potential	
		39.1.3 Complex surfaces of Kähler rank 1	
	30.2	Surfaces in compact LCK manifolds with potential	
	37.4	39.2.1 Algebraic groups	
		39.2.2 Orbits of algebraic groups in Hopf manifolds	
		TATALA ANTONIS OF APPENDANCE FOR USE OF THOSE HEALTH CHOICE	10 /

		39.2.3 Hopf surfaces in LCK manifolds with potential	
	39.3	The pluricanonical condition	589
40	Diam	warmian gaamatuu af LCV manifalda	502
40		nannian geometry of LCK manifolds Existence of parallel vector fields	593
		LCK metrics are not Einstein	
		The Vaisman condition in terms of the Bismut connection	
	40.4	Notes	
		40.4.1 Bismut connections	
		40.4.2 Curvature properties	
		40.4.3 Harmonic maps and distributions	600
41	Eins	tein–Weyl manifolds and the Futaki invariant	601
	41.1	The Einstein-Weyl condition	601
		The Futaki invariant of Hermitian manifolds	
	41.3	The Futaki invariant on LCK manifolds	606
	T 017	10.11	
42		structures on homogeneous manifolds	609
		Introduction	
		Homogeneous LCK manifolds	
		Homogeneous Vaisman manifolds	
	42.4	Notes	612
43	LCK	structures on nilmanifolds and solvmanifolds	613
	43.1	Invariant geometric structures on Lie groups	613
		Twisted Dolbeault cohomology on nilpotent Lie algebras	
	43.3	LCK nilmanifolds	618
	43.4	LCK solvmanifolds	622
11	Evnl	licit LCK metrics on Inoue surfaces	623
**	44 1	Inoue surfaces of class S^0	
		Inoue surfaces of class S^+	
	11.2	44.2.1 The solvable group Sol_1^4	625
		44.2.1.1 The structure of complex Lie groups	625
		44.2.1.2 The group (Sol_1^4, I_0)	
		44.2.1.3 The group (Sol_1^{14}, I_1)	
		44.2.1.4 Non-existence of LCK metrics on $\mathfrak{sol}_1'^4$	
		44.2.2 Cocompact lattices in Sol_1^4 and $Sol_1^{\prime 4}$	
			029
		class S^+	630
		44.2.4 The LCK metric on $S_{N,p,q,r,0}^+$	631
		44.2.5 Non-existence of LCK metrics on $S_{N,p,q,r,t}^+, t \neq 0$	632
	44.3	Inoue surfaces of class S^-	633
45		e on Oeljeklaus-Toma manifolds	635
		Cohomology of OT-manifolds	
	45.2	LCK structures on general OT manifolds	636

		Cohomology of LCK OT-manifolds		
	45.4	LCK rank of OT manifolds	. (639
46	Loca	ally conformally parallel and non-parallel structures	í	541
10		Locally conformally hyperkähler structures		
		Locally conformally balanced structures		
		Locally conformally parallel G_2 , Spin(7) and Spin(9) structures .		
		Notes		
47	Ope	n questions	ť	553
	_	Existence of LCK structures	-	
	-7.12	47.1.1 LCK structures on complex manifolds		
		47.1.2 Existence of LCK potential and Vaisman structures		
	47.2	Complex geometry of LCK manifolds		
	17.12	47.2.1 Hodge theory on LCK manifolds		
		47.2.2 Bimeromorphic geometry of LCK manifolds		
		47.2.3 Complex subvarieties in LCK manifolds		
	47.3	Sasakian and Vaisman manifolds		
	17.10	47.3.1 Vaisman manifolds		
		47.3.2 Sasakian manifolds		
	47.4	LCK manifolds with potential		
		Extremal metrics on LCK manifolds		
		LCHK and holomorphic symplectic structures		
		47.6.1 LCHK structures		
		47.6.2 Locally conformally holomorphic symplectic structures .		
		47.6.3 Holomorphic Poisson structures		
	47.7	Riemannian geometry of LCK manifolds		
		47.7.1 Curvature of Vaisman manifolds		
		47.7.2 Special Hermitian metrics on LCK manifolds		
	47.8	LCK reduction and LCS geometry		
		47.8.1 The Lee cone of taming LCS structures		
		47.8.2 Twisted Hamiltonian action, LCS reduction and toric Vais-		
		man geometry	. (680
	47.9	Hopf manifolds		
		Foliations on LCK manifolds		
		Logarithmic foliations on LCK manifolds with potential		
		2 Flat affine structures on LCK manifolds		
Bil	oliog	raphy	e	589
Sul	bject	Index	7	721
Name Index			7	733

Introduction

Writing long books is a laborious and impoverishing act of foolishness: expanding in five hundred pages an idea that could be perfectly explained in a few minutes. A better procedure is to pretend that those books already exist and to offer a summary, a commentary.

JORGE LUIS BORGES

It was at the beginning of 1970s when Lieven Vanhecke gave a talk in Iaşi (Romania) about conformal Kähler manifolds. Izu Vaisman, a member of the Faculty of Mathematics of the University of Iaşi at that time, asked what can be said about the local situation. Vanhecke replied: "That's for you to find out". And it is exactly what Vaisman did. In 1976, he published the paper [Va1] in which he introduced the "locally conformal (almost) Kähler manifolds". It was the birth of LCK geometry. In a long series of papers, Vaisman clarified the notion by comparing it with the Kähler manifolds, gave the first examples, and introduced the class of "LCK manifolds with parallel Lee form" (which now bears his name). Other examples were given at the beginning of the 1980s by Franco Tricerri, [Tr]. Starting in 1980, the notion was also considered by several Japanese mathematicians, important results being obtained by Toyoko Kashiwada, Yoshinobu Kamishima, Kazumi Tsukada, etc.

In the first 20 years, this new kind of Hermitian geometry was studied mainly using differential geometry methods. The focus was on Riemannian and conformal properties. For example, a great deal of work was dedicated to isometric submanifolds (totally geodesic, totally umbilical, minimal, totally real, CR etc.). The exception was the paper [Tr] in which the blow-up at points was proved to preserve the LCK class.

Most of these findings were gathered in the monograph [DO] written by Sorin Dragomir and the first author. The present book starts from where the previous one ends.

In our book we combine the methods of algebraic geometry, functional analysis and complex analysis to study the LCK manifolds, which properly belong to differential geometry. Similar to Kähler geometry, the subject often transcends the boundary of its domain, and we arrive at the point when no differential geometry is involved. Still, the background is always differential geometric: we mention several works where the authors study the *p*-adic versions of LCK manifolds ([Mus, Vos, Schol]), but we never pursue this direction.

We tried to be accessible to beginner students; this is one of the reasons why

we cover several preliminary topics, such as foliations, Frobenius theorem, and Ehresmann connections.

We start with the definition of complex and Kähler manifolds, mainly to fix the notation. For an introduction to complex geometry, see [Dem4, GriHa, Mor2, Voi, Huy]. Note that the notation, especially the signs, vary from one author to another. Within this book, we try to be consistent, sometimes without success.

The preliminary requirements for this book vary from part to part. The first part, expanded from several lecture courses, is oriented toward advanced undergraduate and master students. We assume a working knowledge of differential geometry (Riemannian structures, connections, principal bundles, de Rham algebra), topology (de Rham cohomology, Poincaré duality, fundamental groups, local systems), Lie groups and algebras, basic algebraic geometry, basic complex analysis and basic functional analysis. We use Hodge theory, citing, without proof, several key results, such as the Hodge decomposition. We also use, without proofs, elements of the theory of Stein manifolds; Demailly in [Dem4] gives all the tools that are necessary for our use.

The second part treats more advanced subjects and the requirements are much higher. We try to give a basic introduction to several key notions, such as derived functors and the Grothendieck spectral sequence, but a working knowledge of algebraic geometry (in the scope of Demailly's textbook [Dem4]) and homological algebra (Grothendieck's Tohôku paper [Gro3]) is necessary. A graduate student studying algebraic geometry won't find it too specialized, and we tried to lower the requirements by introducing each subject within the text.

The third part is a survey of current research on LCK geometry. We give new proofs of most results, using the methods developed earlier in this book. The third part is oriented towards the researchers who operate with the knowledge of differential geometry required for the subject.

In the first two parts of this book, every chapter is augmented by a sequence of exercises. Originally, the exercises were used in the lecture courses, but we expanded them to include the whole new series, giving an introduction to some subjects (such as elliptic curves and Galois theory). Near the end of the writing, we put a moratorium on adding new chapters; at that moment, all new results we got went to the exercises. This is why some of the exercises are difficult theorems in themselves. There is little consistency or system in the exercises, but we hope that every reader would find something interesting to herself or himself.

The last chapter ("Open questions") is a logical conclusion of the same approach: some of the questions we mention are pretty much impossible to solve, but most of them could be used by an early or advanced graduate student as a part of her or his diploma work. We avoided using general ideas such as "develop a geometric flow" in favour of concrete conjectures, and described the context whenever possible.

Every chapter of the first two parts starts with an introduction, which is more or less independent of the body of the chapter. Its purpose is to set forth the narrative of the main body, explain the history, and place the subject in a wider mathematical context; often, it tells the same story, with more flourish and less mathematical rigour. Most of the definitions given in the introductions are repeated in the respective chapters, in more formal fashion.

With painful trepidation, we avoid several important subjects, most notably, stable bundles, stable coherent sheaves, and Yang–Mills connections: the book is too big as it is. For an introduction to Yang–Mills geometry, see [LT]. Also, most of the concepts relating hyperkähler and hypercomplex geometry to LCK geometry is relegated to "open questions". Finally, we did little justice to Sasakian geometry, which we view as an integral part of our subject. Almost everything related to things Sasakian is beautifully explained in the book [BoG1], by Charles P. Boyer and Krzysztof Galicki, and we did not want to repeat their work.

Thanks

In many of the tight places, we were helped by F. Ambro, E. Amerik, D. Angella, M. Aprodu, R. Bryant, M. Entov, P. Gauduchon, N. Istrati, D. Kaledin, A. Moroianu, S. Nemirovski, A. Otiman, J. V. Pereira, Yu. Prokhorov, K. Shramov and M. Toma.

Victor Vuletescu was almost a bona fide coauthor of this book, with his constant attention, encouragement and many beautiful ideas.

M. Verbitsky is grateful to all his students, who helped and inspired him during the lecture courses on LCK geometry and related subjects: A. Abasheva, R. Deev, V. Gizatulin, Iu. Gorginian, N. Klemyatin, D. Korshunov, N. Kurnosov, S. Makarova, P. Osipov, G. Papayanov, V. Rogov, A. Soldatenkov, L. Soukhanov, A. Viktorova. Their ideas and questions enriched the narrative and were often incorporated here.

Many thanks to the colleagues and students who read the first draft of the book and corrected some of our errors: C. P. Boyer, K. Broder, C. Ciulică, N. Istrati, T. Orban, A. Otiman, M. Stanciu, and V. Vuletescu.

Bucharest – Rio de Janeiro, August 2022.

We thank the referees and editors of Birkhäuser for improving the content and the layout of the manuscript.

Part I

Lectures in locally conformally Kähler geometry

The Dao gives birth to unity, Unity gives birth to duality, Duality gives birth to trinity, Trinity gives birth to a myriad of things.

TAO TE CHING, BY LAOZI

Chapter 1



Kähler manifolds

The shift penetrates verses throughout (especially contemporary verses); it is one of the most important parts of the verse. It modifies the word, the stanza, the sounds.

One must establish a special "shift police force" for the prompt capture of shifts, which would leave their authors gaping in amazement.

The shift conveys movement and space.

The shift conveys multiplicity of meanings and images.

The shift is the style of our contemporary life.

The shift is a new discovery of America!..

SHIFTOLOGY OF RUSSIAN VERSE: AN OFFENSIVE AND EDUCATIONAL TREATISE, BY A. KRUCHENYKH

1.1 Complex manifolds

Definition 1.1: Let M be a smooth manifold. An **almost complex structure** is a section $I \in \text{End}(TM)$ that satisfies $I^2 = -\operatorname{Id}_{TM}$.

The couple (M, I) is called an **almost complex manifold**.

Slightly abusing the language, we denote the extension of I to $TM_{\mathbb C}$ by I as well. The eigenvalues of this operator are $\pm \sqrt{-1}$. Let $TM_{\mathbb C} = T^{0,1}M \oplus T^{1,0}M$ be the corresponding eigenvalue decomposition.

Remark 1.2: In algebraic geometry, one should always make clear that the vector bundle is distinct from its space of sections. One usually uses the notation $\Gamma(B)$ or $H^0(M,B)$ for the space of sections of a vector bundle B. However, in differential geometry one could avoid this distinction (see Section 2.1). Throughout this book, we often use the same letter for the bundle over a smooth manifold and its space of sections.

Definition 1.3: An almost complex structure is **integrable** if $[X,Y] \in T^{1,0}M$ for all $X,Y \in T^{1,0}M$. In this case, I is called **a complex structure**.

A manifold with an integrable almost complex structure is called a **complex** manifold.

Theorem 1.4: (Newlander-Nirenberg)

An almost complex structure is integrable if and only if the manifold admits an atlas with charts taking values in \mathbb{C}^n , $n = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} M$, and with **holomorphic** changes of coordinates.

Remark 1.5: The $C^\infty(M)$ -linear map $N: \Lambda^2(T^{1,0}M) \longrightarrow T^{0,1}M$ defined by the commutator is called **the Nijenhuis tensor** of I. One can represent N as a section of $\Lambda^{2,0}M \otimes T^{0,1}M$.

1.2 Holomorphic vector fields

Definition 1.6: A real vector field $Z \in TM$ is called **real holomorphic** if Z(f) is holomorphic for any holomorphic function f defined on some open subset of M.

Remark 1.7: Let $X \in TM$ be a real vector field. Then

$$X = \frac{1}{2}(X - \sqrt{-1}IX) + \frac{1}{2}(X + \sqrt{-1}IX).$$

Clearly, $X - \sqrt{-1}IX \in T^{1,0}M$ (and is called the (1,0) part of X), whereas $X + \sqrt{-1}IX \in T^{0,1}M$ (and is called the (0,1) part of X).

Definition 1.8: A (1,0)-vector field $X \in T^{1,0}M$ is called **holomorphic** if its real part is real holomorphic in the sense of Definition 1.6.

Remark 1.9: A (1,0)-vector field $X \in T^{1,0}M$ is holomorphic if and only if Z(f) is holomorphic for any local holomorphic function f defined on some open subset of M. Moreover, taking the (1,0)-part gives a bijective correspondence between real holomorphic vector fields and (1,0)-holomorphic vector fields.

The next proposition is clear.

Proposition 1.10: Let *X* be a real vector field. The following are equivalent:

- (i) *X* is real holomorphic.
- (ii) $\operatorname{Lie}_X I = 0$, where Lie_X denotes the Lie derivative along X.
- (iii) The flow generated by X consists in biholomorphic transformations.

Remark 1.11: Let (M, I) be a compact complex manifold. Then the group of biholomorphisms of M, $\operatorname{Aut}(M, I)$, is a Lie group whose Lie algebra is the space of real holomorphic vector fields. See also Exercise 1.2.

Remark 1.12: For any holomorphic vector field X, the fields X and $X^c := I(X)$ commute. Indeed.

$$[X,X^c]=\mathrm{Lie}_X(X^c)=\mathrm{Lie}_X(IX)=\mathrm{Lie}_X(I)(X)+I(\mathrm{Lie}_X(X))=0.$$

1.3 Hermitian manifolds

Definition 1.13: A Riemannian metric g on an almost complex manifold (M, I) is called **Hermitian** if g(IX, IY) = g(X, Y). In this case

$$g(IX, Y) = g(I^2X, IY) = -g(X, IY) = -g(IY, X)$$

and hence $\omega(X,Y) := g(IX,Y)$ is skew-symmetric.

Definition 1.14: The differential form $\omega \in \Lambda^2(M)$ is called **the Hermitian form** of (M,I,g).

Remark 1.15: ω is U(1)-invariant, and hence **of Hodge type** (1,1).

Definition 1.16: Let g,g' be two Riemannian metrics on the same manifold M. They are said **conformal** if there exists $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$ such that $g' = e^f g$. The set $[g] = \{e^f g : f \in C^{\infty}(M)\}$ is called **the conformal class** of g. If (M,I) is a complex manifold and one metric in a conformal class is Hermitian with respect to I, then all metrics in the conformal class are so.

1.4 Kähler manifolds

Definition 1.17: A Hermitian manifold (M,I,g,ω) is called **Kähler** if $d\omega=0$. ω is then called the Kähler form, and its cohomology class $[\omega]\in H^2(M,\mathbb{R})$ is called the **Kähler class**.

1.4.1 Examples of Kähler manifolds

Example 1.18: \mathbb{C}^n with the flat metric $g = \operatorname{Re}(\sum dz_i \otimes d\overline{z}_i)$, and with Kähler form $\omega = \sqrt{-1} \sum dz_i \wedge d\overline{z}_i$.

Example 1.19: The complex projective space. Let $\mathbb{C}P^n$ be the complex projective space, and g a U(n+1)-invariant Riemannian metric. It is called **the Fubini–Study metric on** $\mathbb{C}P^n$. Note that the Fubini–Study metric is defined up to a constant factor. In some textbooks this constant is fixed by requiring that the Hopf fibration $h S^{2n+1} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}P^n$ takes a tangent vector $v \in T_x S^{2n+1}$ orthogonal to a fibre of h to a vector $dh(v) \in T_{h(x)}\mathbb{C}P^n$ of the same length.

The Fubini–Study metric can be obtained by taking an arbitrary Riemannian metric, then averaging it with U(n+1) using the Haar measure on U(n+1).

Remark 1.20: For any $x \in \mathbb{C}P^n$, the stabilizer for the $\mathrm{U}(n+1)$ action $\mathrm{St}(x)$ is isomorphic to $\mathrm{U}(n)$. The Fubini–Study metric on $T_x\mathbb{C}P^n=\mathbb{C}^n$ is $\mathrm{U}(n)$ -invariant, and hence unique up to a constant. As $d\omega\big|_x$ is a $\mathrm{U}(n)$ -invariant 3-form on \mathbb{C}^n , it has to vanish, because $-\mathrm{Id}\in\mathrm{U}(n)$, and hence $d\omega=0$.

¹This is equivalent to asking that the sectional curvature K(x,y) of the Fubini–Study metric satisfies $1 \le K(x,y) \le 4$ for any pair of orthogonal unit tangent vectors; see [Bes].

Remark 1.21: With the same argument, Hermitian symmetric spaces are Kähler.

Example 1.22: The product of two Kähler manifolds is Kähler with respect to the product metric.

Example 1.23: The blow-up at points and along submanifolds of a Kähler manifold is again Kähler.

Example 1.24: Complex submanifolds.

Definition 1.25: An almost complex submanifold $X \subset M$ of an almost complex manifold (M, I) is a smooth submanifold that satisfies I(TX) = TX. If I is integrable, then X is called a **complex submanifold** of M.

Remark 1.26: Let $X \subset M$ be an almost complex submanifold of (M, I), where I is integrable. Then $(X, I|_{T_X})$ is a complex manifold.

Since exterior differentiation commutes with pullback, the restriction of the Kähler form is closed on each complex submanifold of a Kähler manifold.

In particular, every projective manifold (complex submanifold of $\mathbb{C}P^n$) is Kähler.

1.4.2 Menagerie of complex geometry

Usually, in algebraic geometry one deals with projective manifolds. There are two wider classes one should consider when studying projective ones.

Example 1.27: A complex manifold that is birational to a projective manifold is called **Moishezon**.

The transcendence degree a(M) of the field k(M) of global meromorphic functions on a compact complex manifold M satisfies $a(M) \leq \dim_{\mathbb{C}} M$, as shown by Moishezon, [Moi]; equality here means that M is Moishezon. The number a(M) is also called **the algebraic dimension** of M.

Theorem 1.28: (Moishezon, [Moi]) Any Kähler Moishezon manifold is projective.

Example 1.29: Small deformations of Kähler manifolds often result in non-projective Kähler ones (even for a torus and a K3 surface).

The class That includes Moishezon and Kähler manifolds is called **Fujiki class C**, [Fuj]. A manifold is **of Fujiki class C** if it is bimeromorphic to a Kähler manifold. As shown in *loc. cit.*, Fujiki class C is closed under all natural operations that occur in algebraic geometry (such as taking moduli spaces or images).

Remark 1.30: The Kähler minimal model program [HoPe], [CDV], would imply that any Kähler manifold admits a sequence of bimeromorphic fibrations with fibres that are either projective, hyperkähler or tori, and hence the class of Kähler

manifolds is probably very restricted. By contrast, the class of complex manifolds is huge.

The fundamental group of a Kähler manifold is very special. On the other hand:

Theorem 1.31: (Taubes [Tau1], Panov—Petrunin [PP]) For any finitely generated, finitely presented group Γ , there exists a compact, complex 3-dimensional manifold M with $\pi_1(M) = \Gamma$.

Conjecture 1.32: (Yau [Yau2]) Let (M, I) be a compact almost complex manifold, $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} M \geqslant 3$. Then I can be deformed to a complex structure.

Remark 1.33: The following important result of Gromov ([Gr2, p. 103]) can be cited to support this conjecture. Let M be a non-compact almost complex manifold, $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} M \geqslant 3$. Then M admits a complex structure.

Remark 1.34: The (non-)existence of a complex structure is highly non-trivial even in the simplest cases, such as S^6 . See [HKP], [CDV]. On the other hand, S^6 has a natural almost complex structure constructed out of octonions, see [Bal] for example, that admits a compatible **nearly-Kähler** metric, which means that ∇I is antisymmetric, see [BFGK], [Bry].

Remark 1.35: It is known that non-Kähler complex manifolds are much more abundant than Kähler ones, except in complex dimension 2, where non-Kähler manifolds are few and much better understood than projective ones. However, it is very hard to come up with new examples of compact, non-Kähler complex manifolds.

1.5 Exercises

1.5.1 Kähler geometry and holomorphic vector fields

- **1.1**. Let G be a compact, complex, connected Lie group. Prove that G is abelian.
- **1.2**. Let X be a holomorphic vector field on a complex manifold, that is, one that satisfies $\mathrm{Lie}_X I = 0$. Prove that IX is also holomorphic.

Hint: $\operatorname{Lie}_X I = A(I)$, where $A = \nabla(X)$ acts by the formula A(I)(v) = A(Iv) - IA(v). Therefore, X is holomorphic if and only if $\nabla(X)$ is complex linear. Since $\nabla(I) = 0$, one has $\nabla(IX) = I(\nabla(X))$, and hence $\nabla(X)$ is complex linear, implying that $\nabla(IX)$ is complex linear.

1.3. Let (M, I, g, ω) be an almost complex Hermitian manifold, ∇ a torsion-free connection. Assume $\nabla \omega = 0$ and $\nabla I = 0$. Then (M, I, g, ω) is Kähler.

Hint: Use $[X,Y] = \nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X$, to show that $T^{1,0}$ is involutive, then use $d\omega = \mathrm{Alt}(\nabla \omega)$, which holds for torsion-free connections.

- **1.4.** Let (M, I) be an almost complex manifold, and $d^c := IdI^{-1}$. Prove that I is integrable if and only if $dd^c = -d^c d$.
- **1.5**. Let ω be a non-degenerate 2-form on a Riemannian manifold, and ∇ its Levi–Civita connection. Assume that $\nabla(\omega)=0$. Prove that M admits a complex structure I such that $\nabla(I)=0$.
- **1.6.** Let (M,I) be an almost complex manifold, $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} M=n, U\subset M$ a dense, open subset, and $\Omega\in\Lambda^{n,0}(U)$ a non-degenerate (n,0)-form. Assume that $d\Omega=0$. Prove that the almost complex structure I is integrable.
- **1.7**. A **holomorphic differential** on an almost complex manifold is a closed (1,0)-form. Let G be a finite group acting on $M=\mathbb{C}^n$ by holomorphic maps. Prove that M admits a non-zero G-invariant holomorphic differential.
- **1.8.** Let $M=\mathbb{C}P^{2m}\times\mathbb{C}P^{2n}$, for some $m,n\in\mathbb{Z}^{>0}$. Prove that M does not admit a Kähler structure with non-standard orientation.
 - *Hint:* Prove that all complex manifolds have a canonical orientation. Prove that this orientation can be given by the top power of the Kähler form, if the manifold is Kähler.
- **1.9.** Let $M:=\frac{\mathbb{C}^n\backslash 0}{\langle A\rangle}$ be the so-called linear Hopf manifold, with A an invertible linear operator with operator norm $\|A\|<1$. Prove that M admits no symplectic structures.
- **1.10**. Let M be a complex manifold, admitting a non-zero holomorphic vector field ξ with zero set Z. Suppose that Z is non-empty and zero-dimensional. Prove that the topological Euler characteristic of M is non-negative.
- **1.11.** Let M be a compact Kähler manifold, and $\mathrm{Alb}(M) := \frac{H^0(\Omega^1(M))^*}{\Lambda}$, where $H^0(\Omega^1(M))$ is the space of holomorphic differentials, and Λ the group generated by all integrals over integer homology classes. The group $\mathrm{Alb}(M)$ is called **the Albanese variety** of M, denoted by $\mathrm{Alb}(M)$. Prove that:
 - (a) The lattice $\Lambda\subset H^0(\Omega^1(M))^*$ is discrete and cocompact, and hence $\mathrm{Alb}(M)$ is a compact complex torus.
 - (b) Fix $m \in M$. Consider the map $\Psi: M \longrightarrow \mathrm{Alb}(M)$, taking $x \in M$ to the map $\theta \mapsto \int_{\gamma} \theta$, where γ is any path-connecting m to x. Prove that Ψ is defined unambiguously and is holomorphic.

1.5.2 The Lie algebra of holomorphic Hamiltonian Killing fields

The following exercises are not elementary; we advise the less prepared reader to skip them. We will sometimes refer to these statements later in this book. The reader can find these results in [Bes, Chapter 2.H].

1.12. Let (M,ω) be a compact Kähler manifold, G(M) the group of its holomorphic diffeomorphisms, $\mathfrak{g}\subset TM$ the Lie algebra of vector fields satisfying $\nabla(X)=0$, where ∇ is the Levi–Civita connection, and G its Lie group.

- (a) Prove that $G \subset G(M)$.
- (b) Prove that all its orbits are compact complex tori in M.
- (c) Prove that $i_X\omega$ is the real part of a holomorphic 1-form for any $X\in\mathfrak{g}$.
- (d) Let $G_1 \subset G(M)$ be the group of holomorphic diffeomorphisms acting trivially on $\mathrm{Alb}(M)$. Prove that for $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ there is a holomorphic 1-form η such that $\langle \eta, X \rangle \neq 0$. Use this to prove that $G_1 \cap G = \{\mathrm{Id}\}$.
- **1.13**. Let X be a vector field on a Riemannian manifold (M,g). Prove that X is Killing if and only if the operator $A:=\nabla(X)\in \operatorname{End}(TM)$ taking Y to $\nabla_Y(X)$ is antisymmetric: g(A(x),y)=-g(x,A(y)) for all $x,y\in T_mM$.
- **1.14.** Consider the standard Euclidean form g and the Hermitian form ω on a vector space $V=\mathbb{R}^{2n}=\mathbb{C}^n$. Let $A\in \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{R}}(V)$ be a matrix that satisfies $\omega(Ax,y)=-\omega(x,Ay)$ and g(Ax,y)=-g(x,Ay), and $\omega(IAx,y)=-\omega(x,IAy)$ for all $x,y\in V$. Prove that A=0.
- **1.15**. Let $X,Y \in TM$ be holomorphic vector fields on a Kähler manifold, and ∇ the Levi–Civita connection.
 - (a) Prove that $\nabla_{IX}Y = I\nabla_XY$.
 - (b) Let $A(\cdot) := \nabla_X \cdot$. Assume that $\nabla_X \omega = \nabla_{IX} \omega = 0$. Prove that $\omega(IA\cdot,\cdot) = -\omega(\cdot,IA\cdot)$ is equivalent to $\mathrm{Lie}_{IX}\,\omega = 0$.

Hint: Prove that $\nabla_{IX} - \text{Lie}_{IX} = IA$, and show that $\nabla_{IX}\omega - \text{Lie}_{IX}\omega = \omega(IA\cdot,\cdot) + \omega(\cdot,IA\cdot)$.

- **1.16.** Let (M, I, ω) be a Kähler manifold and let $\mathfrak{g} \subset TM$ be the subalgebra formed by vector fields $X \in TM$ such that $\mathrm{Lie}_X I = 0$, and $\mathrm{Lie}_X \omega = \mathrm{Lie}_{IX} \omega = 0$.
 - (a) Prove that for all $X \in \mathfrak{g}$, one has $\nabla(X) = 0$.
 - (b) Let Y be a holomorphic vector field that satisfies $\nabla(Y)=0$. Prove that $Y\in\mathfrak{g}$.
 - (c) Prove that \mathfrak{g} is abelian, if M is compact.

Hint: Use Exercise 1.13, Exercise 1.15 and Exercise 1.14 for the first part.

1.17. Let ∇ be a torsion-free connection on a complex manifold (M,I), satisfying $\nabla(I)=0$. Prove that a vector field V is holomorphic if and only if $\nabla(V)\in \operatorname{End}(TM)$ commutes with $I\in\operatorname{End}(TM)$.

Hint: Prove that $\nabla_{IZ}(V) = I(\nabla_V(Z)) + [V, IZ]$ for any vector fields Z, V on M. Use $\nabla_V(Z) + [V, Z] = \nabla_Z V$.

1.18. Let v be a vector field on a Kähler manifold (M,I,ω) , satisfying $\mathrm{Lie}_v\,\omega=0$, and $\eta:=i_v(\omega)$ the corresponding 1-form, that is closed by Cartan formula. Let ∇ be the Levi–Civita connection. Prove that $\nabla\eta\in\mathrm{Sym}^2(T^*M)$ for any closed 1-form η . Prove that v is holomorphic if and only if the 1-form $\eta:=i_v(\omega)$ satisfies $\nabla\eta\in\mathrm{Sym}^{1,1}(T^*M)$, that is, $\nabla\eta$ is of type (1,1) with respect to the Hodge decomposition on $\mathrm{Sym}^*(T^*M)$.

Hint: Use the previous exercise.

1.19. Let η be a closed real 1-form on a compact Kähler manifold that satisfies $\nabla \eta \in \operatorname{Sym}^{1,1}(T^*M)$. Consider the decomposition $\eta = \alpha + \eta'$ where η' is exact and α the real part of a holomorphic 1-form. Prove that $\nabla \eta' \in \operatorname{Sym}^{1,1}(T^*M)$ and $\nabla \alpha = 0$.

Hint: Prove that the harmonic decomposition commutes with the connection and use this to show that $\nabla \alpha \in \operatorname{Sym}^{1,1}(T^*M)$. Show that $\nabla \alpha \in \operatorname{Sym}^{2,0}(T^*M)$ when α is a closed holomorphic 1-form.

Definition 1.36: Let (M, ω) be a symplectic manifold. We denote the contraction of a differential form η with a vector field v by $i_v(\eta)$. A vector field v on M is called **Hamiltonian** if $\mathrm{Lie}_v \omega = 0$ and the 1-form $i_v(\omega)$ is exact.²

1.20. Let v be a holomorphic Killing vector field on a compact Kähler manifold M. Prove that there exists a unique Hamiltonian holomorphic vector field v' such that $\alpha:=i_{v+v'}(\omega)$ is the real part of a holomorphic 1-form. Prove that v is Hamiltonian if and only if $\alpha=0$.

Hint: Use the previous exercise.

- **1.21**. Let $\mathfrak s$ be the space of closed 1-forms on a compact Kähler manifold that satisfy $\nabla \eta \in \operatorname{Sym}^{1,1}(T^*M), \mathfrak g \subset \mathfrak s$ the space of parallel 1-forms in $\mathfrak s$, and $\mathfrak h$ the space of all exact 1-forms in $\mathfrak s$.
 - (a) Show that any exact 1-form on a compact manifold M vanishes somewhere in M.
 - (b) Prove that $\mathfrak{g} \cap \mathfrak{h} = 0$.
 - (c) Use Exercise 1.20 to show that $\mathfrak{g} \oplus \mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{s}$.
- **1.22.** Denote by $\mathfrak h$ the algebra of Hamiltonian holomorphic vector fields (they are a posteriori Killing) on a compact Kähler manifold (M,I,ω) , and by $\mathfrak s$ the Lie algebra of holomorphic Killing vector fields. Prove that $\mathfrak h$ is normal in $\mathfrak s$, and the quotient $\mathfrak s/\mathfrak h$ is isomorphic to the Lie algebra $\mathfrak g$ of holomorphic parallel vector fields (Exercise 1.16). Prove that $\mathfrak s$ can be obtained as a semi-direct product of $\mathfrak g$ and $\mathfrak h$.
- **1.23**. Prove that a holomorphic Killing vector field on a compact Kähler manifold is Hamiltonian if and only if it has a fixed point.

Hint: Use the decomposition $\mathfrak{g} \oplus \mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{s}$.

²The form $i_v(\omega)$ is closed, because $\text{Lie}_v \omega = d(i_v(\omega)) = 0$.